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Alnwick Castle viewed from Robert Adam’s Lion Bridge with the famous Percy Lion in the foreground.
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Preface to the Second, Revised and Enlarged Edition


Castles of Northumberland was first published in 1967, to be followed in 1970 by Shielings and Bastles by Ramm, McDowall and Mercer. Twenty years later (1990), Peter F. Ryder produced his excellent report Bastles and Towers for the Northumberland National Park, all increasing our knowledge and understanding.


Over the years the number of recognisable remains and sites of peles and bastles has grown. My own interest in this field led to many visits and surveys while working for the Forestry Commission in the vast forests of Kielder, Redesdale, Tarset and Wark. I recorded everything from shielings to deserted villages as well as my main interest: the many peles and bastles of the county.


This new edition, Castles and Strongholds of Northumberland, is the result of my continuing quest and the accumulated knowledge of numerous historians and archaeologists, to whom we should be grateful.


Brian Long









Chapter I


Being Introductory


Northumberland has more castles, fortalices, towers, peles, bastles and barmkins than any other county in the British Isles. Castles of all periods were the private residences and fortresses of kings and noblemen. The fact that they were private residences was the principal difference between them and their predecessors, the Anglo-Saxon burghs, which were fortified towns, etc., such as were at Heddon, Yeavering and Bamburgh. Their private nature is again the distinguishing factor between them and forts erected at a later date by kings and governments for national defence. The towers, peles, bastles and barmkins were also private residences fortified by small, not so powerful lords, or by rich farmers and landowners as a means of defending themselves from raiding parties and securing their cattle in times of such raids.


Motte-and-Bailey Castles


Many castle sites are either not known or can only be traced as names on a map or a few green mounds in a field. Indeed, many of these green mounds never had fortifications of stone erected on them and only existed as the motte-and-bailey castles of the Norman invaders, our first castle builders. Whatever the precise plan of a motte-and-bailey castle, the earthworks in themselves were a formidable defence crowned with timber stockades. The outer fringes of these castles, the counter-scarp, on the outside of the ditches of both motte and bailey, also had their bristling defences of pointed stakes set at angles and interwoven brambles.


Motte-and-Bailey Castles with Map References (see Figure 1, p.12)






	D.35


	Alnwick







	B.18


	Bamburgh







	B.1


	Berwick







	E.38


	Bellingham







	G.23


	Bellister







	F.40


	Bolam







	F.19


	Bothal







	H.6


	Bywell







	D.42


	Callaly







	A.12


	Carham







	E.18


	Elsdon







	B.2


	Fenham







	D.4


	Fowberry







	E.50


	Gunnerton







	G.13


	Haltwhistle







	C.15


	Harbottle







	D.15


	Ilderton







	F.21


	Mitford







	F.20


	Morpeth







	H.12


	Newcastle







	A.2


	Norham







	H.8


	Prudhoe







	D.56


	Rothbury







	E.55


	Simonburn







	D.13


	South Middleton







	H.19


	Styford







	?


	Tiefort1







	D.32


	Titlington







	A.1


	Tweedmouth







	H.14


	Tynemouth







	G.53


	Warden







	A.16


	Wark on Tweed







	E.53


	Wark on Tyne







	D.46


	Warkworth







	C.5


	Wooler
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Four images showing the development of motte-and-bailey castles with the motte at Dinan, the motte-and-bailey at Elsdon, a reconstruction of a motte-and-bailey castle and Warkworth Castle with the later stonework following the original earthworks.


The sketch of the motte at Dinan is based on the Bayeux Tapestry and shows a timber keep surmounting an earthen mound with a moat. Elsdon Castle is shown in this old drawing with a bold motte and a larger but lower bailey with no trace of the timber castle that must have capped them. A complete motte-and-bailey castle with moated motte-and-bailey is shown with a shell keep on the motte and great hall and other offices in the bailey, all of timber construction.
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Figure 1: Map of Northumberland showing the distribution of motte-and-bailey castles in the county.


Castles of Northumberland


Upon the summit of the motte or mound, within the stockade, usually rose a wooden tower, which was the residence of the lord and the ultimate stronghold and vantage point of the castle by reason of its superior height.


The exact time and place or origin of this type of fortification is unknown. A castle of this type was mentioned for the first time in ad 1010 and stood on the banks of the Loire in France. It was built by a man skilled in military affairs whose name was Fulk Nerra. He was also the first man to employ mercenary soldiers. It cannot be denied that a motte is a fortress for a man who wishes to defend his family and close friends from all would-be enemies, whether other lords or his own rebellious retainers. Whatever its origin, the motte was in wide use in Normandy before William conquered England.


The tower on the motte was not always a crude and uncomfortable lodging on stilts as stood at Durham in the castle of Prior Laurence: ‘Four posts are plain, on which it rests, one post at each strong corner.’ Many were comfortable tower houses, as described by Lambert of Ardres in 1117:




Arnold, Lord of Ardres, built on the motte of Ardres a wooden house, excelling all the houses of Flanders of that period both in material and in carpenters’ work. The first storey was on the surface of the ground, where were cellars and granaries, and great boxes, tubs, casks and other domestic utensils. In the storey above were the dwelling and common living rooms of the residents, in which were the larders, the rooms of the bakers and butlers, and the great chamber in which the lord and his wife slept.


Adjoining this was the private room, the dormitory of the waiting maids and children. In the inner part of the great chamber was a certain private room, where at early dawn, or in the evening, or during sickness, or at time of bloodletting, or for warming the maids and weaned children, they used to have a fire … In the upper storey of the house were garret rooms, in which on the one side the sons (when they wished it) and on the other side, the daughters (because they were obliged) of the lord of the house used to sleep. In this storey the watchmen and servants appointed to keep the house also took their sleep at some time or other. High up on the east side of the house in a convenient place was the chapel, which was designed to resemble the tabernacle of Solomon in its ceiling and painting. There were stairs and passages from storey to storey, from the house into the kitchen, from room to room and again from the house into the loggia, where they used to sit in conversation for recreation, and again from the loggia into the oratory.





It may be noted that neither the Bayeux Tapestry, nor indeed many of the contemporary accounts, mention or show the bailey. It should not be deduced from these facts that in most castles the bailey did not exist, but it should be taken as an implication of the immense importance of the motte both militarily and socially. The bailey must have been essential for stables, barns, smithies and affording shelter for the garrison and its supplies in most, if not all, of the early Norman strongholds.


As mentioned above, the Bayeux Tapestry shows several of these castles with their towers on the motte and bridges in position. The pictures of the siege of the castle at Dinan shows just how vulnerable they were when fire was used. There can be little doubt that the walls were hung with wet hides to prevent them catching fire. One of the many tragedies that must have overtaken these houses and their besieged occupants happened in 1190 when the Jews of York were attacked by a mob and had taken refuge in the motte, and many of them perished when it was fired.


Motte-and-bailey castles were cheap and quick to build but a castle of importance required more permanent defences, and as timber in contact with damp soil rots quickly, the second build of such a castle would at least be on stone sleeper walls if not entirely rebuilt in stone when circumstances allowed. It was at this time that many sites were abandoned in favour of stronger and healthier sites. Elsdon Castle, the best motte-and-bailey in Northumberland, never had stonework built on it as the occupants moved out when the timber decayed. The remaining mounds, known as the Moat Hills, are worthy of inspection.


The next step in castle building came about by a change of materials rather than tactics, and the keep-and-bailey castle came into being. The keep, normally, was a large square stone structure taking the place of the motte, or incorporating it in its own defences, as at Warkworth. The plans of these castles were the same as those of timber, though as the first urgency of the conquest declined and the lords began to seek the comfort and safety of stone, quite a number of the original sites were abandoned, as was Elsdon, for safer and more suitable ones.


The main gate, the most vulnerable point of the bailey, was the first to be strengthened by a stone tower. A strong square tower, beneath which ran the entrance passage, would be built. Then came the bailey walls enclosing the site; this enabled the occupants to work in safety on the keep and other offices. Norman ramparts can still be seen under the successive layers of stonework of nearly every period at Alnwick, Warkworth, Morpeth, Mitford and Norham. As mentioned above, keeps were normally large square structures, as at Newcastle, Norham, Bamburgh and Prudhoe. The normal arrangements in these large towers or keeps can be seen to advantage at Newcastle. It is obvious that much in the way of comfort was sacrificed, but in days of peace there would be other more comfortable lodgings in the bailey. Because of their weight, great towers and keeps were seldom placed on the earlier mounds as at Warkworth. To replace the security offered by the height of the motte, the entrance to the later stone keeps was often on the first- or even the second-floor level and housed by a forebuilding.


Bamburgh, built on its rock, was so inaccessible as to be safe with its entrance on the ground floor, or so the builders thought. No two keeps are exactly the same, but all are similar in many respects, internally and externally. They have shallow buttresses in the centre of each side and at the corners. The corner ones often terminate in small angle turrets, but the bases of all of them are splayed. The walls were of great height so as to protect the high-pitched roof from fire arrows. In some castles, such as Warkworth, the keep was so large and of such excellent design that it may have been in general use and at least would have been much more comfortable than most.


Shell Keeps


The keep was the strongest point of the castle and had to be a self-sufficient unit capable of separate and successful defence. The simplest form of keep, placed upon the motte, its stonework following the line of the timber stockade, was known as a shell keep. Within this strong enclosure, the timber tower house was replaced by strong buildings either for the residence of the lord or the defence of the keep. Like the buildings in the bailey, they were ranged against the inside of the wall so that the centre of the enclosure was left free. Castles in Northumberland with a shell keep include Alnwick, Mitford and Wark on Tweed.


There are traces of the buildings that once lined the walls of the keep at Mitford but in the thirteenth century they were removed to make way for a five-sided tower that stood in the centre of it, almost filling it.


Sieges


Few methods of siege warfare could be used against the massive keeps but keeps and bailey walls were all vulnerable to mining. A passage or sap would be driven under the walls or across the corner of a keep and the walls supported by timber frames. When the passage was complete, a fire would be lit in it to destroy the supports and so bring down the wall, exposing the defenders. A sap of this kind was found at Bungay in Suffolk but seems to have been built or engineered by the occupants so as to destroy the castle in case of surrender.


To counter this threat, as previously mentioned, the corners of keeps had buttresses that projected from the wall almost like small towers. In some cases, as at Warkworth, towers were built projecting from the centre of each face so as to cover the walls. The bases of square keeps were splayed to prevent the sappers from coming into contact with the actual wall. This also had the advantage that missiles dropped from above would bounce off its surface at unpredictable angles into the shelters used by the sappers. The keep at Newcastle has a widely splayed base. During the religious wars (First Crusade, 1096) in the Near East, the knights noticed how walls were protected by projecting towers at intervals along their outer face, and they had to turn to such weapons as the ballista, trebuchet and belfry. When they came home, they in turn defended their castles against these weapons.
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The shell keep at Alnwick Castle with a small central courtyard and building of many periods and styles forming the outer wall (the shell).


To break into such a castle, the moat first had to be filled in under the cover of bows and stone-throwing machines to enable the sappers to reach the base of the wall; once at the foot of the wall, this had to be breached by one of a number of methods such as sapping, or crossed by the use of the belfry (a high wooden mobile tower), which was pushed up to the wall. To combat this problem, the defenders built higher walls to prevent the use of scaling ladders and the belfry. Now all that remained was to protect the berm, or space immediately in front of the wall, since this was the spot attacked by sappers. One device was the brattice or hoarding, a covered wooden gallery built out from the top of the wall supported on horizontal wooden brackets. The holes for these timber supports can be seen in the south wall at Warkworth. These galleries had holes in their floors, through which missiles could be dropped on to attackers.


The gatehouses of Newcastle and Warkworth are other results of these observations during the Crusades. The towers on the gatehouse at Warkworth are polygonal, while those at Newcastle are semicircular. Of the older, Norman gates, the only ones remaining are those to the shell keep at Alnwick, and the gates of the outer baileys of Prudhoe and Norham.


Gatehouses


The castles of Edward I in Wales, with no keeps but large gate towers, were never completely copied by the Northumbrians of the time, and the greatest achievement in that field was Dunstanburgh. Work at Dunstanburgh began in 1314 and it had no other keep except the gatehouse. Other examples of the gatehouse keeps are Bothal, Tynemouth and Bywell of a later date. The disadvantage of this arrangement was that the gatehouse was the first line of attack and the last resort of the holders who must live in the midst of the battle because there was no other lodging strong enough included with the castle walls. John of Gaunt closed the gate at Dunstanburgh and built a complicated barbican at the side leading to a gate a little distance away. Other castles with barbicans added to their gates were Tynemouth, Prudhoe and Alnwick, which also had a barbican to the shell keep. With the uniting of the crowns, peace came to the border and castles were abandoned for the more comfortable houses of the type that the south of England had enjoyed for the past two centuries.


Houses


The plans of the houses of the period were remarkably uniform, whether large or small, castle or hall. The main feature was the hall. Halls could be on the ground floor or raised on a cellar and approached by steps and open to the rafters. At one end was the dais where the lord and his family ate. Others ate and slept in the marsh, the area of the hall below the dais. In the early days an open hearth would blaze in the centre of the floor, the smoke escaping where it could. At the other end of the hall was a screen, behind which were the entrance doors and the doors leading to the buttery and pantry. Above the screen was a gallery or room.


The solar, or private room, was at the same end as the dais and was reached through a door behind the dais. Other rooms and a chapel were added where the site would permit. Hall houses were built in the thirteenth century but they had to be strengthened and fortified at a later, not quite so peaceful, date. Of outstanding interest is Haughton Castle, which under fourteenth-century fortifications hides a large hall house of the ‘palas’ type. Remains of a smaller house can be seen at Heaton and are known as King John’s Palace. Another house forms part of Featherstone Castle.


Of fortified manor houses, by then becoming very popular in the south, Northumberland can boast one of the earliest examples: Aydon Castle, a very extensive house in a well-defended position above the Cor Burn, which winds round three sides, with very steep banks up to the house. The castle, or house, had no keep or even strong towers to protect its curtain wall. Edlingham consisted of a rather fine hall house but unlike Aydon had a keep attached at a later date.




The OED on Peles, Peels or Vicars’ Peles


If you can’t find ‘pele’ in your edition of the Oxford English Dictionary, just move on to ‘peel’, where they say that in early usage it was a pale or stake. Later it was a palisade formed using pales or stakes, or even a moated enclosure or small castle.


They go on to say that modern writers use ‘peel’ to describe a massive square tower or fortified dwelling occupied by sixteenth-century borderers as a defence against forays. The result is a tendency to call all towers large or small pele towers, be they the houses of local headsmen, the mansion of the vicarage or home to other person of standing. Hidden in this changing interpretation is the present belief that early peles consisted of moated sites with a timber palisade and houses set within their own small island enclosure.


The OED does not mention vicars’ peles but I read into the above that the later peles or towers were built using stone, with some having a barmkin or stockade of stone built around them. This resulted in what I consider correct: that only towers with an enclosure in which they stood can correctly be termed as pele towers; that is, a tower within a palisade, a stockade or a barmkin.





Towers


Such houses as Aydon were not to be the rule, however, as strife was almost continuous in the border counties during the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries, and towers were still being erected in the late sixteenth or early seventeenth century. Most of these towers were of the same design as the square keeps of the Normans, regardless of the period in which they were built, and observers may find them difficult to date. Many churches had towers either built for defence or as places of refuge in time of war. Churches with such towers are Ancroft and Edlingham. Towers were also built at Carham and Farne.


List of Towers (see Figure 2, p.22)






	Abberwick


	D







	Acton


	D







	Adderstone


	B







	Akeld


	C







	Alnham Vic


	C







	Alnwick (St Mary’s)


	D







	Alwinton Vic


	C







	Ancroft Vic


	B







	Antichester


	C







	Bamburgh Vic


	B







	Barrow Bavington


	E







	Beadnell


	D







	Beaufront


	G







	Bebside


	F







	Bedlington


	F







	Belford


	B







	Belsay


	F







	Benwell


	H







	Berrington


	B







	Bewick


	D







	Biddlestone


	C







	Birks


	E







	Birtley


	E







	Bitchfield


	F







	Blanchland


	G







	Blenkinsop


	G







	Bolam


	F







	Bolt House Vic


	F







	Branxton


	A







	Buckton


	B







	Burnbank (Bought Hill)


	E







	Burradon (Coquetdale)


	C







	Burradon (N. Tyneside)


	F







	Callaly


	D







	Caraw


	E







	Carham


	A







	Causey Park


	F







	Charlton (South) Vic


	D







	Chatton


	D







	Chatton Vic


	D







	Cheswick


	B







	Chipchase


	E







	Chollerton


	E







	Choppington


	F







	Clennell


	C







	Cocklaw


	E







	Cocklepark


	F







	Coldmartin


	D







	Corbridge Vic


	H







	Cornhill


	A







	Cotewalls


	C







	Coquet Island


	D







	Coupland


	A







	Craster


	D







	Crawley


	D







	Cresswell


	F







	Dally


	E







	Darques


	E







	Detchant


	B







	Dilston


	G







	Downham


	A







	Duddo


	A







	Dunstan


	D







	East Shaftoe Hall (Belso)


	F







	Earle


	C







	East Ditchburn


	D







	East Woodburn


	E







	Edlingham Vic


	D







	Elliburn


	F







	Ellishaw


	E







	Elsdon Vic


	E







	Elswick


	H







	Elwick


	B







	Embleton Vic


	D







	Eslington


	D







	Fairnley


	F







	Fallowlees


	F







	Falstone


	E







	Farnham


	C







	Farne Island


	B







	Featherstone


	G







	Fenham


	B







	Fenton


	A







	Fenwick


	F







	Ford Vic


	A







	Fowberry


	D







	Goswick


	B







	Great Ryal


	D







	Great Swinburn


	E







	Great Tosson


	D







	Green Leighton


	F







	Grindon Rigg


	A







	Gunnerton


	E







	Halton


	H







	Haltwhistle


	G







	Harnham


	F







	Harterburn


	F







	Hartington


	F







	Hazelrigg


	B







	Healey


	H







	Heaton


	H







	Heaton (Old Heaton) Castle


	A







	Hebburn (Hepburn)


	D







	Hedgeley


	D







	Hefferlaw


	D







	Hepple


	C







	Hepscott


	F







	Hesleyside


	E







	Hethpool


	C







	Heton


	B







	Hobberlaw


	D







	Holburn


	B







	Hoppen


	B







	Howick


	D







	Howtel


	A







	Hulne Abbey


	D







	Humbleton


	C







	Ilderton


	D







	Ingram


	D







	Kilham


	A







	Kirkharle


	F







	Kirkley


	F







	Kirknewton


	C







	Kirkwhelpington Vic


	F







	Kyloe


	B







	Lanton


	A







	Lemington


	D







	Little Bavington


	E







	Little Harle


	F







	Little Haughton


	D







	Little Swinburn


	E







	Long Haughton Vic


	D







	Longhorsley


	F







	Lowick


	B







	Low Trewitt


	D







	Meldon


	F







	Middleton (Bamburgh)


	B







	Middleton Hall


	D







	Mindrum


	A







	Morpeth


	F







	Nafferton


	H







	Nesbit


	A







	Nether Trewhyt (Low Trewitt)


	D







	Netherwitton (High Bush)


	F







	Newbiggin


	A







	Newbrough


	G







	Newburn


	H







	Newlands


	B







	Newstead


	D







	Newton Hall


	H







	Newton Underwood


	F







	Newtown


	D







	Ninebanks


	G







	North Middleton


	F







	North Sunderland


	B







	Nunnykirk


	F







	Old Bewick (Bewick)


	D







	Otterburn


	E







	Overgrass


	D







	Paston


	A







	Ponteland Vic


	F







	Portgate


	G







	Preston


	D







	Prendwick


	D







	Ritton White House


	F







	Rock Hall


	D







	Roddam


	D







	Roseden (Ilderton)


	D







	Rothley


	F







	Ryal


	F







	Saint Margarets (Alnwick)


	D







	Scremerston


	B







	Seaton Delaval


	F







	Seghill


	F







	Settlingstones


	G







	Sewingshields


	E







	Shawdon


	D







	Shield Hall


	G







	Shilbottle Vic


	D







	Shoreswood


	A







	Shortflat


	F







	Simonburn Vic


	E







	South Charlton Vic


	D







	Stamfordham


	F







	Stanton


	F







	Starward


	G







	Swinburn


	E







	Thirlwall


	G







	Thornton (Newbrough)


	G







	Thornton (Thornebie)


	A







	Thropton


	D







	Tillmouth


	A







	Titlington


	D







	Togstone


	D







	Tosson


	D







	Troughend


	E







	Tweedmouth


	A







	Twizell


	A







	Wallington


	F







	Walltown


	G







	Walwick


	E







	Weetslade


	F







	Weetwood


	D







	Welton


	H







	West Lilburn


	D







	West Thornton


	F







	West Whelpington (Kirkwhelpinton)


	F







	Whalton Vic (Rothbury)


	F







	Whitlow


	G







	Whitton Vic


	D







	Whittingham Vic


	D







	Widdrington


	F







	Witton Shield


	F







	Wooler


	C







	Wylam


	H







	Yeavering


	A
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Figure 2: Map of Northumberland showing the distribution of towers, vicars’ peles and hall houses. Towers were the most numerous type of fortified house in the county.


 


1 Tiefort: This castle is mentioned in the Histoire des Ducs de Normandie, and has been translated as being either Styford, Tynemouth or Tweedmouth. The only other clue is the date of 1216 when the Histoire was written.









Chapter II


Definitions


If the development of any one building is to be fully understood, it is important that the terms fortalice, tower, pele, bastle and barmkin are interpreted correctly.


Fortalice


A fortalice is a small castle or large tower or group of towers. Horton, by the sea, was described as a fortalice in 1415 and had double moats, but at Detchant and Swinburn no moat can be traced. These are not easy buildings to identify and documentary evidence is the only accurate method of classifying them. The list of 1415 mentions the castles of ‘Horton, Blenkensope, Swinburne, Dichant and Kippitheton’, but in the margin their status was corrected to that of ‘Fortalicium’. ‘Fflotwayton, Harnhamhall and Shortflate’ were the only buildings termed ‘Fortalicium’ prior to the marginal corrections. In 1541 Horton and Swinburn were called ‘great towers’ and held a garrison of 100, while ‘good towers’ held only fifty. Could it be that fortalice was a ‘great’ or large tower or group of towers, such as Etal and Ford, being capable of holding 100 men?


Buildings Listed as a ‘Fortalice’ in the Survey of 1415


Horten Iuxta Mare – licence to crenellate 1292


Shortflate – licence to crenellate 1305


Blenkensop – licence to crenellate 1340


Swinburn


Dichant


Kippitheten


Harnhamhall


At least three of these houses listed as being a fortalice in the 1415 survey are known to have a licence to crenellate. The others, also listed as fortalices, have no known licence but the surveyors evidently saw them as being of the same status.


Tower


There are more towers in Northumberland than any other form of fortification and they vary a great deal, more in size and plan than the peles and bastles. As a rule, the main block of a tower was rectangular, but this could be changed to an L or T shape by entrance towers or other offices. Entrance towers were often carried above the battlements, which all towers had, and gave access to them as well as giving the entrance the cover of crossfire. Just like the Norman square keeps, many towers had their entrances on the first floor. Most towers and some peles and bastles had vaulted basements, which were used as byres or store rooms. Some towers even had vaults on the first and second floors. For extra protection many towers and bastles stood within a barmkin.


When the crowns united, some towers were made into houses and halls such as had been in the south of England for more than 200 years. Comfortable apartments were built, as a wing, on to many, and it was at this stage that some were wrongly termed castles, the wings in some cases being built as sham castles. The barmkins were made into pleasure gardens. See p.19 for a note on pele towers.


Barmkin


A barmkin is a yard or open space girt by a high wall that could be used to protect livestock and owners alike in time of strife. Towers and bastles often stood within a barmkin, but it was also a perfectly independent fortification, as can be seen from the following:


Acts of Parliament for Scotland 1535




… every landed man dwelling on or near the border having land worth £100 a year shall build a barmkin upon his land in a place most convenient and of stone and lime. The area of the barmkin should be three score square feet and the wall should be one ell thick and six ells high [one ell = 34½ft] and it should be used by the tenants and their goods in time of strife. If he wishes, the owner can build a tower within the barmkin for his own safety.


All other landed gentry of smaller income should build peles and great strengths as they please for the safety and protection of themselves, their tenants and their goods …





The survey of 1541 uses the term in the same way: ‘The descripc’on of the p’sent state of all the castells towers Barmekyns and other fortresses standinge and scytuate nere unto the utter border.’ The same document gives plans for the building of:




Barmekyns aboute every towre … Avoydinge of xcessyve costs such towers and fortresses as be in the same precyncte begonne to be buylded may be finished and lykewyse where there remayneth standyne a parte of anye fortresse which hath bene before tyme rased or decayed the same to be newly reedified and repared wth Barmekyns about every towre.





In 1544 a report from the English Wardens of the Marches to Henry VIII gave an account of ‘forrays’ into the counties of Berwick and Roxburgh.


Sir Robert Bowes, writing on the ‘State of the frontiers and marches’ in 1550, informs us that:


If there were there made a stronge towre wth stables bynethe and lodgings above after the fashion of Roclyf [Carlisle] My Lord Dacres house upon the west borders able to conteigne many men and horses and in circuyte about it a large barmekyn or fortylage for save garde of cattle whiche might easely in that place have water in a ditche rownde aboute.


Barmkin, Barmekyn, Barnekyn


The small traditional pele, the home of poor farmers. These farmers, or the ‘landed gentry of smaller income’ were permitted to ‘build peles and great strengths as they please for the safety and protection of themselves, their tenants and their goods.’ Men with land worth £100 a year were to build a barmkin of stone and lime. This hints at the fact that barmkins could be constructed using stout timbers. In 1541 Ilderton had a ‘strong barmkin of stone’ as against other material. Pele owners could not afford an expensive barmkin and what stock they had would be secured in night folds or, with smaller animals, in the basement of their pele. The Carnaby drawing of Haughton shows and gives the dimensions of the barmkin there.


The following barmkins are mentioned in the survey of 1541, which reported that a ward within the ruinous Wark Castle ‘serveth as a barmkin’, while it was noted that Carham, Paston, Akeld, Earle, Branxton, Ruddam and Chatton were, to their dismay, without one. Downham had not got one yet; as with Kilham, it was still to be built. Fenton and Horton were in decay while that at Haughton was ‘old’ and shown in the above-mentioned Carnaby drawing of 1538 as being in a reduced state. Others found to be in good order were at Holburn, Ilderton, Eslington, Screenwood, Biddlestone, Whitton, Ritton and Green Leighton. At Clennel one was being ‘made new’, while at Great Ryle the owners were ‘mynded to build’ one.
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This image is a copy from an old sketch showing the remains of a ruined barmkin at Starward Pele as in 1825.
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Haughton Castle from a drawing of 1595 shows the barmkin wall in poor condition. The original sketch was annotated and the little I could decipher is shown.
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Figure 3: Map of Northumberland showing the distribution of barmkins, with most being on the most fertile land to the north of the county.


The survey book of Norham and Islandshire taken and made in the third regnal year of Elizabeth I (1560–61) lists eight barmkins, with that at Cornhill being in an ‘indifferent’ condition while the others were in a good or acceptable state. These include Newbiggin, Twizel, Tillmouth, Heaton, Duddo, Thornton and Scremerston.


The map shows the distribution of barmkins in the county, with most of them in the area south of the Tweed but north of the Aln River. The threat of invasion was at its highest here and the land was fertile, making for rich spoils.


Barmkins and their Associated Houses (Figure 3, see p.27)
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Barmkins, Barmekyns, Barnekyns as Listed in Contemporary Surveys


1. Wark Castle – the utter most ward s’veth for a barmekyn


2. Kilham – a new tower and barmekyn be made


3. Fenton – a great tower wth a barmekyn


4. Horton – a great tower wth a barmekyn


5. Holburne – a tower and a barmekyn


6. Ilderton – a great tower wth a strong barmekyn


7. Roddome – a little tower wthout a barmekyn


8. Eslyngton – a tower wth a barmekyn


9. Great Ryle – mynded to buylde likewise a barmekyn


10. Screnwood – a tower and a barmekyn


11. Byttylsden – a tower and a barmekyn


12. Clennel – making a newe barmekyn


13. Whytton – a tower and a lytle barmekyn


14. Rytton – a stone house and a lytle barmekyn


15. Greenlighton – a lytle stone house wth a barmekyn


16. Haughton – an olde barmekyn p’tely decayed


17. Newbiging – a good barnkin


18. Twizell – a barnkin


19. Tilmouth – A little tower or pile – a little barnekin


20. Cornhyle – one tore, or pile with a barnekin about the same


21. Heton – a barnek


22. Duddo – one barnekin


23. Thorton – a barnkin


24. Scremerston – good towre with a barnekin


25. West Whelpington


Barmkins were not as numerous as the surveyors wished: they noted that Carrame, Downham, Pawston, Akeld, Yerdle, Brankstone, Chatton and Roddome were without.


 Haughton ‘castle’ in the drawing of 1538 shows the front elevation of the house and gives dimensions not only of the house but the barmkin as well, showing it to be ‘olde’ and ‘p’tely decayed’. First mentioned in 1327, the site is stunning and impregnable, being a tongue of rock protected by a gatehouse in the barmkin wall, then at the far side of the yard the remains of the house or ‘pele’ of rather fine masonry for a house classified as a pele.


The small traditional pele, the home of lowly hill farmers, did not include an expensive barmkin as what stock they had would be housed in the basement ‘byre’ in troubled times. A number of peles had night folds associated with them to shield their cattle. There is a school of thought that cattle were turned loose in the deep, wooded cleughs, the thinking being that they would be more difficult to round up and drive off than animals in a fold.


What the map shows is that barmekins were built in areas where the land was more productive, with most being on the richer land to the north of the county. The surveys used to plot these barmkins are that of 1541 and that of Norham and Islandshire of the third year of Elizabeth I, 1560–61.




The OED on Barmkins


The OED says that ‘barmkine’ or ‘barmekin’ is a corruption of ‘barbican’, an outer fortification of a castle. This may help us to understand the pele and barmkin that stands between the double moats around Prudhoe Castle. The term is to be found applied to earthworks topping prominent hills up the eastern side of Scotland, as in the case of the barmkin at Easter Culfosie, Aberdeenshire. Other similar earthworks are known as peles, with a good example to be found at Lumphanan, also in Aberdeenshire.





Vicars’ Peles


Old surveys describe them all as being the ‘mansion of the vyccaredge’ or ‘the mansion house of the p’sonage’, be they large or small. This group of houses ranges from the basic small, free-standing tower or a ‘panic room’ built on to one end of the church at one end of the scale, to much more comfortable, more complicated, houses – even mansions – at the other.


Those at Ancroft, South Charlton and Edlingham saved the vicar considerable expense by using stout walls of the church as the basement of a small tower. Alwinton’s ‘mansions of the vycaredge’ were strongly described as a ‘lytle bastell’ house of stone (as against one of wooden construction), then at another time it was ‘a pile builded to the end of the church’. Another surveyor described it as a ‘lytle fortresse’.


The ‘mansion of the vycaredge’ at Whitton, Rothbury, is a rather fine tower and even had a ‘lytle barmekin’, an unusual feature for this group of houses. While not built on the scale of Whitton or Elsdon, perhaps the finest for its time was the vicar’s pele at Corbridge. It had some interesting domestic detail of this period, being built around 1300. The most comfortable abodes were the houses at Ponteland, Whalton and Embleton, which consisted of a rather fine domestic range with a more secure bolt hole in the form of a secure solar tower incorporated in the layout. Embleton is a gem of a house, being mostly the work of John Dobson (1828). The tower started life in the fourteenth century as a wing of a larger building but towards the end of the century it was made more secure with the addition of corbelled out battlements and a simple cap-house to cover the top of the stair that gave access to the parapet walk.
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Embleton (above): The fine house by John Dobson was built in 1828 and hides or replaces a much older vicarage with the only ancient part left being the small solar tower. These small towers were built on the end of the church and we can imagine the parishoners with their valuables and even livestock huddled in the body of the church. Just to emphasise that all vicarages were not fine houses, that at Ancroft (left) was built on top of the west end of the church.
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Figure 4: Map of Northumberland showing the distribution of towers designated ‘Mansion of the Vicarage’, ‘Mansions of the Parsonage’ (vicars’ peles) and solar towers.
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Elsdon Tower was home of the vicars and once the heart of the largest parish in the county, described by a poet as ‘the world’s ‘unfinished neuwk’. The Rev. C. Dodgson recorded how he endured a three-year stint living in the tower.


Bastles


This group of houses for the most part are what some authorities term peles, both being small stone houses with a first-floor living area and a byre or storage on the ground floor. Where there is a problem is that a number of houses termed bastles are much larger and much more comfortable. Included in this group are houses such as Akeld, of such size and importance that Lord Dacre proposed to place ten men in the tower under John Wallis for the defence of the border. Doddington was a later building built in 1584 and incorporated much of the prevailing domestic architecture of the time with an embattled parapet walling to the long side walls. Starting life as a tower, Hebburn or Hepburn was later converted to a mansion house in 1564 with extensions. Bellister was termed a bastle in 1541 and, while remains are fragmentary, it was a hall house with later tower situated on an artificially scarped hill with a moat or a ditch, once again not a bastle of the Black Middings type (see p.143).


These houses are either ‘strong houses’ or hall houses, a group much removed from the home of a hill farmer of the type we term bastle or pele. From the outside, this type of house is the same as Black Middings and Gatehouse but this hides the fact that it has a vaulted roof to the basement, resulting in a much stronger house. This vaulted basement belongs to one of a small group of similar houses, being much larger than most peles/bastles in the county and only to be found in the north. Even without a vaulted basement, this style of house offers greater comfort, having three floors and a battlemented gable on one end for security.


Hebburn (Hepburn) bastle is recorded as a tower in the surveys of 1415 and 1541, it was converted into a much more comfortable house, a bastle far removed from the houses at Gatehouse and Black Middings.


Even in ruins, Doddington bastle exhibits a departure from the basic pele/bastle and the larger towers in the greater comfort of its plan. Built in 1584, it had an embattled parapet, a ridged roof and a projecting turret housing the staircase. Bart Milburn would be so envious.
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Gatehouse Pele or Bastle is shown here by a plan, section and elevations to be typical of the type found in the upland areas to the west of the county such as the North Tyne, Redesdale and Coquetdale. My drawing was made at the time when the roof was intact and the stumps of the original roof timbers still existed. Along with Black Middings (below), these are the most usual type of pele/bastle to be found in the county.
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Black Middings Pele or Bastle is shown here by a plan, section and elevation. Similar in design to that of Gatehouse Pele or Bastle (top).
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The best example of a vicar’s pele of the late fourteenth century is the small tower built into the churchyard wall at Corbridge. It was restored and reroofed in 1910.
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‘Hirst Castle’ or Low Hirst, Ashington, was a comfortable house known by the locals as ‘the castle’ but actually it was a strong house far superior to any pele.


Pele or Bastle? A Problem of Nomenclature




There is no clear warrant from ancient usage for the choice of the term bastle to describe buildings known as peles.


H.G. Ramm, R.N. McDowall and E. Mercer, Shielings and Bastles, 1970





Or vice versa. These are the most used and misused of terms. The medieval use of the term ‘pele’ meant a position or place of great strength, made of timber and earth. These houses must have looked like the circular huts of past ages, and indeed the Celtic name for a fort was a pill. Some houses that later became towers and even castles were once peles.


Peles


The ground floor of a typical pele consisted of a large store room or byre 23ft by 36ft externally on average, with walls 4ft to 5ft thick. In most cases, the entrance was in one of the 23ft gable ends and was never very large. Some were only 2ft 3in wide and so low that one had to stoop to enter, which begs the question as to how large the animals were that they kept there. The door was bolted on the inside with stout oak timbers as much as 5in to 6in thick, which could slide backwards and forwards in the thickness of the wall. Some owners did not trust the strength of one stout bolt and so incorporated two in their plan. Others even had two doors, one behind the other, each secured by the above bolts.


Once safe behind locked doors you were anything but comfortable, and usually the only light came from a small slit or window in the wall at the opposite end of the room from the door, although some peles had other windows or vents. It is possible that a small glimmer of light came from the trapdoor in the ceiling above but this is doubtful. This dark, dank room was used to store the essential supplies to survive a harsh winter. In some houses the height of the room could be divided into two floors by the insertion of a temporary floor or shelf on which dry goods could be stored. The put holes for the stout beams that carried this floor are still to be found in a few houses.


Above this storage area were the living quarters of the owner, which could be reached by a trapdoor and ladder from the basement or an outside stair. The upper room was only a little larger than the basement but had more and larger windows, especially in one of the long side walls and the side that incorporated the upper door and external stair. This stair is a prominent feature in a few remaining peles and is interesting in that it seems to have been a later refinement. A gatehouse was built over a ground-floor window. I do not know of any remaining stair of this type that is bonded to the main wall and therefore contemporary with the original building. This would suggest that originally a retractable wooden ladder would be used and only dispensed with at a later date. This later date was not necessarily a much safer one, as an interesting and strange thing is that the landings or stair heads are always lower than the threshold of the entrance they serve. This meant that any would-be aggressor was at a disadvantage if the occupant came to the door, standing at a more advantageous elevation for the defence of his home. If it was decided that a fire would open the door then the low landing again meant that a lot of combustible material had to be carried in several trips up and down the stairs to build a fire large enough to burn even the threshold. Adding to the difficulties, the windows of the upper apartments were so arranged that at least one window was over the foot of the stair, enabling the defence of the same from within.


This large room was the all-purpose living area of the pele, perhaps being subdivided by wooden-framed partitions into kitchen, work area and a bedroom. No fireplace was included in the early houses and therefore no chimney was provided in the thickness of any of the walls. One rather fine pele, the Hole, has remains of wattle and daub partitions on the first floor and a delightful simple stair to a group of small rooms in a loft but this was by no means general practice, being for the most part an afterthought, and even the first-floor fireplace was a later insertion. Some peles had vaulted basements but most had a floor of wooden planks or large slabs of stone resting on hewn beams set in the wall or resting on corbels or a small ledge that ran the full length of the building. The roofs could be of stone, slates or as in some reports thatch that would have a thick coat of mud. However, there is little evidence of roofing materials left for us to see.


In my opinion, the best existing example of a pele is Gatehouse North on the Tarset Burn, a tributary of the North Tyne. This was built around 1560, being of the normal stout construction and having a basement with the living area above it. Resting on rough-hewn beams were large slabs of stone, being replaced in part by stout planking. This room has an external stone stair of great interest. The basement door is, as is most common, in one of the gables and was bolted from within. Access to the living area from the basement room was gained by a small trapdoor and a ladder. This trapdoor could be so situated as to form a murder hole just above the basement entrance to be used if anyone should break in. The first floor consisted of one large room that may have been subdivided. It is possible that a loft was built into the roof space. All the windows in this house are in the side that incorporates the external stair to the upper door. As in some other houses, the other, back wall was plain.


Most peles had the basement entrance in a gable wall and this helps us to read ruins where little remains but low walls and rubble. If you stand and face the end of the gatehouse that has the basement door in it, the blank wall is to your right and the external stair and first-floor windows are to your left. This holds true for peles in the Tyne and Rede valleys at least. Once you find the basement entrance in its gable you can place the stair to the left and importantly the highest point, the landing, is nearer to the basement entrance, the foot of the stair being towards the end with the small window or vent. Once more, this is true of most buildings of this type in the Tyne and Rede valleys and the hills between the Rede and Coquet.


There are houses that break the rule, having both doors in one long wall, one above the other, or even both doors in the same gable wall. John Hodgson tells us:




The peel house called the Bolt House consists of a byre or cow house below and the family apartments above, viz.: an upper room with a boarded floor and a garret, both approached by stone stairs on the house, and the whole covered with thatch. The door to the cow house is under the landing of the stairs and the door of it is fastened with a strong bolt in the inside, for which purpose the byre and the upper room had a communication by a trap hole, that is by a horizontal door in a corner of the floor, and a trap or ladder.





I believe houses where the external stair incorporates the basement entrance point to a later date if we believe that originally a retractable wooden ladder was used, followed by unbonded stone stairs. A good example of a later house was Melkridge pele, now demolished but recorded in detail by the National Monuments Record in superb drawings dated 1954.


Houses Designated Peles and/or Bastles by Surveyors and Auditors of the Crown


The gentlemen who produced the various surveys of fortified and strong houses in Northumberland were confused by the designations they thought applicable to the particular building they were recording. It is not unusual for the designation being applied to a house to be at odds with what we know to be the situation based on existing remains.


Bellister is recorded as a ‘Bastell house’, when we know it to be a rather fine fortified house or hall with at least two towers attached. Akeld was recorded as a ‘Lytle Fortelett or bastle house’, when it was one of a superior group of houses, which includes Pressen and Castle Heaton, that stand out by reason of their greater proportions. Akeld’s vaulted basement is 63ft long, Pressen is 65ft long and Castle Heaton is 68ft long, giving us a type of house not found in any other part of the county, where bastles/peles are well under 50ft long. The chart on p.73 gives the dimensions of fifty bastles/peles for comparison.


‘Stone houses’ range from simple ‘stone houses built by villagers for their own good safeguard’, as at Beal where the security of a tower and barmkin did not exist. Other listings recorded ‘stone houses, little stone houses, strong stone houses’ or ‘little stone house or pile’. A few of these are now known to have been towers with a barmkin, as at Green Leighton, or simply towers, as at Hethpool and Ritton.


The survey of 1560–61 produced by Anthony Roone Esq., one of the auditors of Queen Elizabeth I, and Thomas Baytes, ‘surveyor of her Majesties lands in the county of Northumberland’, lists a number of ‘towers or piles’, including in their number Tillmouth, Cornhill, Duddo, Goswick, Heathpool and Yerdle. All are now known to be towers so is this an early, contemporary use of the designation pele tower? Use of the terms pile, pele or bastell are just as confusing, including in their number vicars’ peles as at Alwinton and a rather fine fortified mansion or hall house with two towers attached as at Bellister, but most we now know to have been towers.


At least on the northern side of the border we have evidence that men having land worth £100 a year had to build a barmkin for use by their tenants and their goods in times of strife. All other landed gentry of smaller income had to build peles for protection (Acts of Parliament for Scotland, 1535). This would point to any listing including a barmkin being a tower, or, as above, is this a contemporary use of the designation pele tower?


I was born into a world when the Ordance Survey called the small barn-like houses of hill farmers ‘peles’ but designated the larger, finer, much more comfortable houses of richer farmers ‘bastles’, and I believed them. This has coloured my opinion to this day but I accept that there are other opinions held by other respected authorities.


The whole subject of nomenclature relating to peles and bastles abounds with controversy and as pointed out by Peter Ryder in his Towers and Bastles, respected authorities hold diverse opinions as to the correct usage. Two noted historians, John Hodgson and David D. Dixon, held opposing views with Hodgson favouring the term pele while Dixon firmly favoured bastle. These diverse opinions were and still are held by respected authorities. Shielings and Bastles, published in 1970, tells us that ‘there is no clear warrant from ancient usage for the choice of the term bastle to describe buildings known as peles’.


While there is architectural variation, what I see as more important is that the larger ‘bastles’ were built by relatively wealthy landowners farming land that was much more productive than the marginal ground ‘pele’ owners worked. The resulting better harvest is reflected in the larger size of bastles and their larger storage areas in houses such as Akeld, Doddington and Hirst (Ashington). Hirst, (Ashington), Hebburn, Doddington, and Akeld all display a more polite form of architecture, be they bastles or even strong houses. Black Middings, the Raw and the Gatehouse are simple vernacular buildings with little or no architectural refinement I know as peles.
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Diagram showing the development of peles/bastles in nine stages.
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This house has many more features of a domestic nature but is not quite as robust as the earlier peles/bastles. The walls for the most part are not as thick as in peles and the stair landing can be on the same level as the threshold of the first-floor entrance. There is evidence that the landing at the head of the stairs had some form of parapet.
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